
Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea 
 

1973-1982 
Concluded at Montego Bay, Jamaica on 10 December 1982 

 
 

Document:- 
A/CONF.62/SR.165

 
 

165th Plenary meeting 
 

Extract from the Official Records of the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of  
the Sea, Volume XVI (Summary Records, Plenary, First and Second Committees, as well as 

Documents of the Conference, Eleventh Session) 
 

 

 

 

 

Copyright © United Nations 
2009 



165th meeting-1 April 1982 69

165th meeting
Thursday, 1 April 1982, at 3 p.m. ~

President: Mr. Z. PERISIC (Yugoslavia)

Consideration of the subject-matter referred to in paragraph 3
of General Assembly resolution 3067 (XXVIII) of 16
November 1973 (continued)

1. Mr. ANDERSEN (Iceland) said that his delegation was
ready to support the approaches taken in the report of the
President on the question of participation in the convention
(A/CONF.62/L.86), and in the report of the co-ordinators of
the working group of 21 (A/CONF.62/C.1/L.30) regarding
the Preparatory Commission and the treatment of preparatory
investments.

2. The Conference had been much criticized for taking so
long to complete its work. Some of that criticism was due to a
misunderstanding of the difficulties caused both by the com-
plexity of the subject-matter and by the fact that there had
been no voting. The effort to reach agreement by consensus

had from the beginning presented formidable obstacles.
Accordingly, he wished to stress for once the Conference's
positive accomplishments.

3. As far as the matters dealt with by the Second Committee
were concerned, a package solution was in being that enjoyed
the support of the overwhelming majority of the international
community. It embraced the sovereign rights of coastal States
over the resources of the exclusive economic zone of 200 miles
and of the continental shelf even beyond that distance in cer-
tain circumstances. A small number of further adjustments
had been proposed which had gained considerable support. In
that connection, his delegation was still in favour of the pro-
posal contained in document C.2/Informal meeting/54/
Rev. 1, regarding the so-called straddling stocks (art. 63, para.
2), and of the proposal of the United Kingdom concerning ar-



70 Eleventh Session-Plenary Meetings

tide 60, paragraph 3 (C.2/Informal meeting/66). As a whole,
the articles dealing with the exclusive economic zone could be
said to have gained the status of customary international law
even if the convention was not signed. For a nation like
Iceland, whose economy was overwhelmingly dependent on
the exploitation of the living resources of the exclusive
economic zone, that result alone made the long struggle em-
inently worth while.
4. The articles on marine pollution and marine scientific
research that had emanated from the Third Committee also
enjoyed the support of the overwhelming majority and would
be extremely helpful even in the absence of a convention.
5. His delegation, like so many others, had been looking for-
ward to the adoption of the convention by consensus. As was
well known, however, difficulties had arisen in connection
with the matters dealt with by the First Committee, concern-
ing the international Area. A great effort had been made by
the group of 11 to bridge the gap which still remained. His
delegation hoped that the proposals which had thus emerged
would be helpful in making adjustments in the text that would
make it easier to reach a consensus, and, should consensus not
prove possible, would facilitate later participation by States
which were not ready to sign the convention when it was
opened for signature. Nevertheless, it fervently hoped that by
the end of the session the Conference would be able to adopt
the convention by consensus. All efforts must be devoted to
that task.
6. Mr. SUJA (Czechoslovakia) said that his delegation
shared the view expressed by many others that the most
encouraging result of the Conference's deliberations so far
was that the vast majority of the participating States were
unambiguously in favour of the adoption of the law of the sea
convention at the current session and, what was equally
important, on the basis of the existing draft (A/CONF.62/
L.78).1 That general determination was still apparent despite
some attempts to create obstacles and to subordinate the will
of the Conference to the obstructive attitude of the United
States. That attitude, supported to a certain extent by a lim-
ited group of other Western countries, still threatened to pre-
vent consensus. Even the most recent statement of the United
States delegation contained no new positive elements. Never-
theless, his delegation firmly believed in the ability of the
Conference to overcome those artificially created obstacles
and to move towards the accomplishment of its task in accord-
ance with the agreed programme. The delegation of Czech-
oslovakia, together with the overwhelming majority of other
delegations, was faithful to the agreements that had been
reached after so many years of painstaking negotiation and
had led to a fair and balanced draft convention.
7. It was, of course, desirable that the convention should be
adopted by consensus and that all the countries participating in
the Conference should become parties to it. If the United States
and the few countries that supported it were to show a sense of
responsibility, there would still be time to reach that goal. If that
was not to be, however, Czechoslovakia joined the other social-
ist countries in maintaining that it was neither necessary nor
desirable to yield to attempts to acquire unilateral advantages
for any country and thus to sacrifice the common interest. If
necessary, therefore, it was prepared to adopt the draft conven-
tion as a whole by vote, disappointing though that outcome
might be.
8. The results of the negotiations on outstanding issues were
a substantial step towards the successful completion of the
Conference's work. The developing countries of the Group of
77 had made a very constructive contribution in that connec-
tion, demonstrating both the political will and the ability to

1 See Official Records of the Third United Nations Conference on the
Law of the Sea, vol. XV (United Nations publication, Sales No.
E.83.V.4).

co-operate closely with other delegations with a view to arriv-
ing at a generally acceptable agreemenUThe outcome of the
first three weeks of informal consultations, as reported in
documents A/CONF.62/L.86 to L.90 and A/CONF.62/
C. 1 /L.30, reflected a striving to bring together differing posi-
tions and prepare the way for the adoption of the convention
in accordance with the agreed timetable.
9. His delegation, like others, had reservations and mixed
feelings about a few important provisions of the draft conven-
tion. On the question of participation, it felt that the inalien-
able right of the national liberation movements recognized by
the United Nations to become parties to international legal
instruments was not properly reflected in the President's
report (A/CONF.62/L.86). It also considered that the provi-
sions of the draft resolution on the establishment of the
Preparatory Commission (A/CONF.62/C.1/L.30, annex I)
regarding the Commission's rules, regulations and procedures
for adopting decisions on matters of substance could be made
clearer, and maintained that the rule of consensus should be
strengthened. It would also prefer some more precise formu-
lations in certain provisions of the draft resolution governing
preparatory investment in pioneer activities relating to
polymetallic nodules (ibid., annex II). In particular, it foresaw
difficulties over the interpretation of paragraphs 12 and 14.
10. Although not all of the provisions of the draft
convention and the documents relating to it met his
delegation's position fully, it had decided not to oppose them
in order that the overall compromise should not be jeopard-
ized. It was legitimate, therefore, to expect the same attitude
on the part of others. The reports submitted by the Chairmen
of the Second and Third Committees (A/CONF.62/L.87 and
L.92) appropriately reflected the final stage of the negotia-
tions on questions within the competence of those Commit-
tees. His delegation could support them as elements of the
compromise, on the understanding that the existing package
of agreements on the issues concerned was in no way ques-
tioned.
11. In conclusion, he emphasized his delegation's conviction
that the draft convention on the law of the sea before the
Conference took into account the legitimate rights and
interests of all countries in the most balanced and equitable
way possible. The completion of the draft and its subsequent
adoption at the end of the session would serve as a powerful
incentive for the strengthening of international peace and
security and for the economic development of participating
States, and his delegation was prepared to exert every effort to
that end.
12. Mr. ABDEL RAHMAN (Observer for the Palestine
Liberation Organization) said that his organization had been
impressed by the positive spirit of most of the participants in
the Conference, and appreciated their desire to reach an
agreement that would be acceptable to all parties. The Pales-
tine Liberation Organization, which had participated effec-
tively in the work of ths Conference at all sessions since the
second session of the Conference in 1974, associated itself
fully with the international community in its desire to achieve
a convention that would protect the interests of all mankind in
their common heritage, the wealth of the sea-bed.
13. His delegation had read with interest the compromise
formulations proposed by the President in his report
(A/CONF.62/L.86), particularly in respect of the participa-
tion in the convention of national liberation movements
which had taken part in the work of the Conference and
thanked the President for his efforts in that connection. The
firm position of the Palestine Liberation Organization regard-
ing the participation of liberation movements was that those
movements which had taken part in the Conference
represented their peoples, and that those peoples were the
owners of their land, even if they were not actually exercising
sovereignty over it for the time being because of an abnormal



165th meeting-1 April 1982 71

situation stemming from its occupation by force by an aggres-
sor. The national liberation movements, therefore, rep-
resented their peoples and their resources, which were the key
elements on which their right to participate in the Conference
was based. Furthermore, they enjoyed legal status as
members of regional organizations and participants in the
work of the United Nations. The Palestine Liberation Organi-
zation was a full member of the League of Arab States, the
Non-Aligned Movement and the Group of 77. It enjoyed
observer status with the Organization of African Unity and
was a participating observer in the United Nations. It had also
concluded international bilateral agreements on a fully legal
basis with many countries in many fields of activity. The
Palestine Liberation Organization had opened dozens of
embassies in countries throughout the world which enjoyed
diplomatic privileges and immunities on an equal footing with
those of independent countries. Thus, the argument that
national liberation movements were not able to play a full
part was unfounded and had no legal justification, and it was
being put forward for purely political reasons.
14. With regard to the details of the compromise formulae
proposed by the President, he reiterated that the Palestine
Liberation Organization seriously and sincerely desired to
facilitate the achievement of positive results by the Confer-
ence. At the same time, the national liberation movements
and their peoples must not be deprived of their right to full
participation. Accordingly, he reaffirmed the right of the
Palestine Liberation Organization to sign the convention on
the law of the sea and the final act of the Conference. He also
emphasized that it was entitled to take a full part in the
Preparatory Commission and in the International Sea-Bed
Authority and all bodies emanating from the Authority. Simi-
larly, the liberation movements which had taken part in the
Conference should be entitled to receive all documents and
correspondence and to exchange documents with participat-
ing countries. Furthermore, a formula must be found which
would ensure the right of the national liberation movements
which had participated in the Conference to have recourse to
the International Tribunal. Since the participation of the
liberation movements was based on their representation of
their peoples and resources, it was logical and necessary that
they should have the right to recourse to justice in order to
defend the interests and rights of their peoples on the same
footing as all other parties. In addition to those general com-
ments, the Palestine Liberation Organization would present
specific proposals on participation in the appropriate setting.
15. Mr. ESSY (Ivory Coast) said that the Ivory Coast, like a
number of other developing countries which had not partici-
pated in the work on the codification of the Law of the Sea in
1958, had greeted the advent of the Third United Nations
Conference on the Law of the Sea with much satisfaction, and
had participated actively in the work of the Conference ever
since.
16. His delegation had already expressed its satisfaction at
the unprecedented overall agreement that had been achieved
with regard to the exploitation and management of the
resources of the international Area of the sea-bed. That
agreement was a well-balanced compromise achieved on the
basis of multiple concessions. However, in the light of the
great difficulties encountered during the negotiations and par-
ticularly of recent developments, it had to be recognized that
that balance was very fragile.
17. His delegation was ready to accept the compromise pro-
posals in document A/CONF.62/C.1/L.30. It regarded them
as a good basis for further negotiation and as offering the
prospect of consensus, although they were still capable of
improvement. His delegation accordingly endorsed the
remarks of the Chairman of the Group of 77 regarding those
proposals as a whole (158th meeting), and agreed that,
although the time-limit for negotiations had officially ended,

the door should not be closed to further attempts, in the hope
of arriving at a universally accepted convention.
18. His delegation's position on the unilateral legislation
adopted or about to be adopted by a number of industrialized
countries in regard to the exploration and exploitation of the
area of the sea-bed beyond the limits of national jurisdiction
was quite plain. It reiterated its endorsement of the position of
the Group of 77, as expressed in the resolution adopted on 29
September 1979 in New York by the Ministers of the Group
of 77, and condemned any legislation which ran counter to
the objectives of the new international law which was being
drawn up and to the principle of the common heritage of
mankind. It urged the countries concerned to be patient and
to strive within the Conference to secure a universal
convention as a demonstration of a new spirit of co-operation
among the nations.
19. With regard to the decision-making machinery of the
Council of the Authority, his delegation had already made its
views known on the compromise that had been achieved on
the Council's procedure. For many delegations, that had been
one of the most difficult issues. The solution that had been
agreed upon concerning decisions on the most important
questions, apart from constituting a disguised veto, could, in
his delegation's view, create an impasse in the Council and
deprive it of the power to act promptly.

20. His delegation likewise found the result achieved in
regard to the transfer of technology unsatisfactory. His dele-
gation would have preferred article 144 to state explicitly that
the technologies envisaged comprised those used for the min-
ing, transport and processing of subsea mineral resources.
21. The production policy and its counterpart, the plan to
compensate land-based producers, were not sufficiently protec-
tive of the fragile economies of the developing land-based pro-
ducer countries. At the ninth resumed session at Geneva in
1980, his delegation had suggested a system for taxing the profits
of contracting enterprises in order to finance the compensation
plan. It should be possible to integrate the idea contained in
paragraph 5 (/') of annex I of document A/CONF.62/
C.1/L.30 into article 151, paragraph 4, by specifying such a
source of finance for the plan.
22. His delegation welcomed the report of the Chairman of
the Drafting Committee (A/CONF.62/L.89) on the continua-
tion of its work during the second stage of the session. On
the report of the Chairman of the Second Committee
(A/CONF.62/L.87), he said that his delegation continued to
have difficulty with the proposal of the United Kingdom for
article 60, paragraph 3. While the existing paragraph 3 pro-
vided for the complete removal of abandoned or disused
installations or structures, the proposal envisaged the possibil-
ity of only partial removal by the coastal State together with
due publicity given by it to the status of the structure or instal-
lation for the benefit of other States. Such a procedure would
serve to create not only an obstacle for shipping in general but
a danger to fishing nets, and his delegation preferred the
existing text. In a spirit of co-operation, however, if the
majority of delegations supported .the United Kingdom pro-
posal, his delegation would not oppose it, provided it was
combined with the more specific French amendment.
23. His delegation would support the drafting amendments
proposed by the Chairman of the Third Committee in his
report (A/CONF.62/L.92).
24. He expressed his delegation's gratitude to the Govern-
ment of Jamaica for its efforts to provide the headquarters for
the Authority with a view to facilitating the work of the
Preparatory Commission.
25. The problems being dealt with by the Conference were
closely interrelated. As the first President of the Conference,
the late Mr. Amerasinghe, had said at the resumed ninth
session in August 1980, it was virtually impossible for a con-



72 Eleventh Session—Plenary Meetings

vention of such wide scope to be fully satisfactory to every
participant in every respect. The Conference had agreed to
abandon the search for perfection and had achieved results
that fell within the realm of the possible. There could be no
doubt that the new law of the sea would have a decisive
impact on the long-awaited new international economic
order, and more particularly on a new, more just and more
equitable, international maritime order.
26. Mr. MWANANG'ONZE (Zambia) said that his
delegation welcomed the draft resolutions presented in docu-
ment A/CONF.62/C.1/L.30; they went a long way towards
meeting the requirements set by the Conference for the estab-
lishment of a preparatory instrument for the organization of
the Authority.
27. In the case of the draft resolution establishing the
Preparatory Commission, in annex I of the document, his
delegation supported the content of subparagraph 5 (/') con-
cerning the undertaking by the Commission of studies on the
problems which would be caused to developing land-based
producers by the production of the Area and its responsibili-
ties with regard to a compensation fund; such measures would
be much needed by the developing land-based producing
countries once deep sea-bed mining was under way and the
inevitable adverse effects on their economies began to be felt.
For that reason, his delegation also supported the proposal
made by the Group of 77 for an amendment to article 171 of
the draft convention, involving the addition of a new para-
graph (/) on the setting up of a compensation fund
(A/CONF.62/L.116). It still believed in the value of the pro-
posal to establish a special commission to take charge of the
organization of such a fund, similar to that to be created for
the Enterprise. In addition, it supported the proposed amend-
ment to article 163, paragraph 4, also put forward by the
Group of 77 (WG.21/Informal Paper/23), to the effect that at
least two developing land-based producing countries should
be represented on the Economic Planning Commission, thus
ensuring direct participation by those directly involved.
28. Most of the provisions of the draft resolution governing
preparatory investment in pioneer activities (A/CONF.62/
C.1/L.30, annex II) were very constructive; he hoped that the
developed countries would regard them in the same light and
be encouraged to join in the consensus. However, the
definition of resources used in the resolution was too re-
stricted; it should extend to all the resources covered by the
definition in article 133 of the draft convention. Otherwise the
undesirable situation might arise in which a consortium, hav-
ing entered the Area specifically to exploit manganese
polymetallic nodules, might incidentally have access to large
quantities of other resources which were not covered by the
regulations, an eventuality which might cause severe distur-
bance to the economies of developing land-based producers.

29. Further, if the minimum expenditure of $US 1 million
given in paragraph 7 (b) of the draft resolution was to be con-
strued as a levy paid in order to retain entitlement to the
pioneer area, he proposed that the figure should be raised to
$US 1.5 million so to deter certain consortia which might try
to hold on to a site solely in order to prevent others from
exploiting it. In the same context, the last sentence of para-
graph 8 (a) should be deleted. The Authority should be more
than a rubber stamp; applications for a plan of work should
be considered and approved in accordance with the regula-
tions laid down in the convention. Further, paragraph 10 (b)
should also be amended, since as it stood it offered in effect, a
"flag of convenience" to a consortium whose certifying or
sponsoring State failed to sign or ratify the convention. While
such practices were almost impossible to wevent, that was no
reason for legalizing them, and consortia should not be able to
create profits for nationals of a State which did not accept the
convention. Paragraph 13 should also be rewritten or
removed, because it sought to make the Authority subordi-

nate to the resolution, and paragraph 14 should be improved
in order to prevent a situation in which a consortium might
continue operating even after the entry into force of the con-
vention.
30. The President's report on the question of participation in
the convention (A/CONF.62/L.86) was an interesting and
honest attempt to find a compromise solution. However, it
was his delegation's view that national liberation movements
should enjoy full participation in the convention and in the
Area, which was expressly defined as "the common heritage
of mankind", especially in view of the terms of article 140 of
the draft convention, which stated that activities in the Area
should take into particular consideration the interests and
needs of peoples who had not attained full independence. The
concept of the common heritage in that context had not been
adequately discussed at the current session; he hoped that it
would be taken up at a la"er stage. _
31. He referred to the statement made by the representative
of the United States of America at an earlier meeting to the
effect that the United States Government continued to insist
that the Conference should offer more compromise solutions
if it wished the United States to join in the consensus on the
draft convention. His delegation honestly believed that every
effort had been made by the Conference in general to give the
United States and other countries the chance to negotiate on
the matters of particular concern to them. They should realize
that the Group of 77 and other States in a similar position
could not be pressed to grant further concessions when they
had not achieved their ovm objectives. It should be impressed
on the United States and on the developed countries in gen-
eral that the aim of the developing world was not to damage
their interests but, on the contrary, to co-operate with them in
the service of mankind as a whole.
32. Mr. PINTO (Portugal) emphasized his delegation's
readiness to accept the vast majority of the provisions of the
draft convention, which it considered to be a balanced and
harmonious solution of compromise. However, certain points
remained which posed difficulties of substance and others
which might be significantly improved while leaving intact the
fundamental principles of the draft convention.
33. His delegation had no difficulty in accepting, as a
compromise solution, ths proposals of the President in his
report on the question of participation in the convention
(A/CONF.62/L.86), especially with respect to the problem of
the national liberation movements. It would none the less like
to see the concerns expressed by the representative of Bel-
gium (160th meeting) on behalf of the European Economic
Community, on the subject of article 4, paragraph 6, of annex
IX, taken into consideration.
34. For matters dealt with by the first Committee, the pro-
posals put forward in document A/CONF.62/C.1/L.30 by the
co-ordinators of the working group of 21 on the Preparatory
Commission and the protection of preparatory investments
offered an acceptable basis for compromise.
35. His delegation had already given its support to the pro-
posal put forward in document WG.21/Informal Paper/19 by
a number of smaller industrialized countries concerning the
revision of articles 161, 164 and 165 of the draft convention,
on the composition of the Council, the Legal and Technical
Commission and the Economic Planning Commission. Its own
submission, in document WG.21/Informal Paper/22, was the
outcome of a long series of endeavours to impress on the
Conference the need for representation of the interests of
migrant workers. His delegation continued to believe that the
interests of those who would be employed in the Area, either
by the Enterprise or by other entities of exploration, had not
yet been given the minimum protection to which they were
entitled. The contention that the solution of such labour
problems should be the responsibility of the Authority ran
counter to all the principles of national and international law



165th meeting-1 April 1982 73

in the field, since it was not tenable for the Authority to be at
one and the same time the sponsoring entity in the interna-
tional Area and the defender of the interests of the workers in
that Area. It was for those reasons that his delegation had
called for a reference to labour to be included in the provi-
sions relating to the Council and its organs, and for represen-
tation in the Council itself of those States recognized by the
United Nations as being the major sources of migrant labour.
He appealed to all States, and especially the great Powers, to
show understanding of the problem; it was those workers to
whom, to a large extent, they would ultimately owe the
advantages to be derived from sea-bed mining.
36. His delegation had welcomed the return of the delega-
tion of the United States of America to the negotiations and
had studied carefully the proposals which it had submitted in
document WG.21/Informal Paper/18. It had also given atten-
tion to the statements of the Group of 77 and studied its docu-
ments. The proposal of the heads of the Australian and other
delegations (WG.21/Informal Paper/21 and Add.l) appeared
to be motivated by a commendable willingness to produce a
compromise between two positions. It was important as a
fresh approach and inspired great hope for the continued pos-
sibility of achieving a universal Convention adopted by con-
sensus. The same spirit could usefully be applied to the solv-
ing of all the issues outstanding concerning Part XI.
37. His delegation had no difficulty in accepting the conclu-
sions of the masterly report by the Chairman of the Second
Committee (A/CONF.62/L.87). As to the amendments sub-
mitted to the Committee during the current session, it
reaffirmed its support for the United Kingdom proposal con-
cerning article 60, paragraph 3 on abandoned or disused
installations or structures. Further, the proposal made
recently by the delegation of France appeared at first glance
to be complementary to the United Kingdom proposal and
might be considered in that light by the Collegium. In addi-
tion, his delegation considered that, while leaving intact the
fundamental issues which had already attracted a consensus,
certain other aspects of the questions which came under the
Second Committee could be improved. For example, as
already stated by the representative of India, it seemed rea-
sonable for all archipelagos to be able to benefit from the
regime established in part IV of the draft convention, which
as matters stood applied exclusively to "archipelagic States".
Similarly, the United Kingdom proposal .(A/CONF.62/
L.126) that paragraph 3 of article 121 should be deleted was
worthy of support.
38. It was regrettable that the amendments recommended
by the Chairman of the Third Committee had been sent
directly to the President and the Drafting Committee and not
first submitted to the Third Committee itself for considera-
tion, since his delegation had reservations concerning a
number of the proposed amendments, including those to arti-
cles 196, 216 and 222.
39. He expressed appreciation for the extremely difficult
work of the Drafting Committee. His delegation would be
indicating to that Committee certain discrepancies between
the English, French and Spanish language versions of the
draft convention which had come to light while it was being
translated into Portuguese.
40. Mr. DIOP (Senegal) said that in its consideration of the
draft resolutions in document A/CONF.62/C.1/L.30 his
delegation had borne in mind the legitimate concerns of
certain delegations which had difficulties in accepting some
provisions of Part XI of the draft convention. While in general
the results reflected in those resolutions were very gratifying,
there were a number of improvements which might be made
to consolidate the progress achieved and improve still further
the prospects for consensus. First of all, the criteria for estab-
lishing pioneer investment status should be more carefully
defined, in order to prevent dates and figures being set

without any legitimate basis. Further, the status of pioneer
investors and certifying States in relation to the terms of the
convention should be reconsidered, with particular reference
to the powers of the organs of the Authority and the system
of exploitation. In addition, the compromise solution,
announced by the Chairman of the Group of 77, which would
make it possible for land-based producing countries to mini-
mize the adverse effects of sea-bed mining on their economies
should be taken into consideration in the next stage of the
work of the Conference. Lastly, paragraph 10 (b) of the draft
resolution governing preparatory investment should be looked
at again very carefully, with a view to discouraging the use of
flags of convenience.
41. In connection with the question of participation in the
convention, he welcomed the provisions relating to interna-
tional organizations. He emphasized the need to establish a
link between the field of competence of the individual inter-
national organizations and the matters dealt with by the con-
vention, together with the requirement that all the member
States of the organization must participate by signing the con-
vention. __ _ __
42. His delegation had always actively supported the
national liberation movements and advocated their participa-
tion in the convention, and it therefore endorsed the position
taken by the Group of 77 and appealed for an acceptable
compromise to be devised. His delegatioh wished to draw
attention to a legal lacuna in the existing provisions; as they
stood, they applied only to liberation movements which
signed the final act, indicating that no permanent machinery
was envisaged for movements which might be formed after
that date.
43. His delegation hoped that in the consideration of the
system of exploitation, the balance of the parallel system, the
transfer of technology and the decision-making procedures of
the organs of the Authority it would be possible to maintain
the precarious balance which had been achieved so as not to
strip the concept of the common heritage of mankind of all
meaning.
44. As to the transitional provision, his delegation had no
objection to its being withdrawn from the text of the conven-
tion itself and established as a supporting instrument in the
form of a resolution. However, that new form would not fun-
damentally alter the nature of the provision in question; the
important point was that in contemporary international law
the rights of peoples over their natural resources was a princi-
ple of jus cogens. Accordingly, the principle that the exploita-
tion of the sea-bed should be to the benefit of colonial peoples
was a peremptory norm of the law of nations. Ideally, the new
paragraph should also have provided for follow-up action by
the Secretary-General of the United Nations and effective
machinery for that purpose.
45. He empliasized the importance of the issue of the delim-
itation of the exclusive economic zone and the continental
shelf between States with opposite or adjacent coasts. The
compromise formula embodied in the draft convention was
sound and balanced, and impartial in that it made reference
to Article 38 of the Statute of the International Court of Jus-
tice.
46. In conclusion, he emphasized his delegation's positive
attitude towards the President's call for continued negotia-
tions among all delegations of good will. The establishment of
the International Sea-Bed Authority, responsible for manag-
ing the Area, the common heritage of mankind, was recog-
nized by the waiting world as the first practical test of the
North-South dialogue. It was a challenge to which all respon-
sible delegations must respond by adopting the draft conven-
tion, in the interest of world peace and security and interna-
tional co-operation.
47. Mr. MI-ENDAMNE (Gabon) said that, in view of their
difficulties with the existing text of article 151, Zaire, Zambia,



74 Eleventh Session—Plenary Meetings

Zimbabwe and Gabon had worked out a compromise formu-
lation which they had intended to submit at the current ses-
sion. However, because of the scant interest shown by other
States, they had decided not to reopen negotiations on the
question. Instead, they had proposed the addition to the draft
convention of a provision whereby the Authority would es-
tablish a fund to compensate States whose earnings and
economies would be affected by the exploitation of the
resources of the Area. That flexible proposal, which reflected
good will and a spirit of compromise, had not been favourably
received and had been replaced by another, that reproduced
in paragraph 5 (;') of the draft resolution establishing the
Preparatory Commission (A/CONF.62/C.1/L.30, annex I).
The Commission would thereby be instructed to undertake
studies on the problems which would be encountered by
developing land-based producers. Those studies would appar-
ently be general studies of the kind frequently undertaken by
United Nations specialized agencies and other bodies.
48. At the request of the African States, the Secretary-
General of the Conference had prepared a preliminary report
on the possible impact of the convention on developing land-
based producers (A/CONF.62/L.84). The addendum to that
report indicated the production ceilings for cobalt, man-
ganese, copper and nickel, calculated, first, according to arti-
cle 151 of the draft convention and, secondly, according to the
proposal submitted by Gabon, Zaire, Zambia and Zimbabwe.
In the French version of document A/CONF.62/L.84/Add.l,
the figures in Table 1 for manganese should be stated as mil-
lions of metric tons, not thousands.
49. All the studies already carried out indicated that, in the
short term and in the medium term, the cobalt and man-
ganese industries would be seriously affected. The Secretary-
General's preliminary report was, of necessity, neither precise
nor comprehensive, because the required data would become
available only after the sea-bed had been exploited for some
years. It was unrealistic to believe that the Preparatory Com-
mission, which would cease to exist even before the sea-bed
mining began, would be able to bring those studies to a suc-
cessful conclusion. In any event, the Preparatory Commission
would simply be making recommendations, which could be
accepted or rejected by the Authority.
50. Sea-bed mining would have very serious implications for
all developing land-based producers. In the case of Gabon,
the production and sale of manganese accounted for a sub-
stantial proportion of the country's export earnings and pro-
vided a livelihood for some 21,000 persons out of an econom-
ically active population of over 200,000. There should be a
clear and unequivocal link between the convention, which
would afford the sole juridical framework for a question of
such importance, and the specialized organs of the Authority
that would be responsible for certain specified tasks. His dele-
gation urged that a provision on the establishment of a com-
pensation fund should be included in the draft convention.
51. His delegation had serious difficulty with the definition
of "pioneer investor" contained in the draft resolution
governing preparatory investment (A/CONF.62/C.1/L.30,
annex II). That definition discriminated between industrial
entities in developed countries and those in developing coun-
tries. It was inappropriate to specify at the outset, for entities
in developed countries, the amount that would have to be
expended in pioneer activities, whereas for entities in
developing countries the amount would be determined by the
Preparatory Commission. That system could allow the entities
in developed countries to take over, at lower cost, pioneer-
activities sectors under the control of certain developing
States. His delegation proposed that the final part of para-
graph 1 (a), referring to the developing States, should be
deleted.
52. The term "polymetallic nodules" in paragraph 1 (b) was
too restrictive and should be replaced by the term,

"resources", within the meaning of article 133 of the draft
convention.
53. In paragraph 1 (e), the area of 150,000 square kilometres
should not be specified. That figure would inevitably be used
by investors in applications for very large areas. The Prepara-
tory Commission should be responsible for determining the
area to be allocated to each investor. His delegation con-
sidered that paragraph 13 of the draft resolution was inap-
propriate and should be deleted.
54. As to the innocent passage of warships, his Government
believed that the territorial sea was an integral part of the ter-
ritory over which a State exercised full sovereignty. There was
no reason why a coastal State could not deny foreign warships
entry to that part of its territory. The question of innocent
passage of warships was related to that of the military security
of States. His delegation therefore believed that there should
be notification and authorization prior to the passage of war-
ships of one State through the territorial waters of another.
Article 21 of the draft convention should be amended accord-
ingly.
55. His delegation believed that the national liberation
movements should be entitled to become full parties to the
convention. That would be consistent with the preamble,
which stated that the resources of the Area were the common
heritage of mankind and that the convention would contri-
bute to the strengthening of peace and promote the economic
advancement of all peoples of the world.
56. Mr. CHARRY SAMPER (Colombia) emphasized his
delegation's solidarity with the Group of 77, its concern at the
attitude of the delegation of the United States of America, its
support for the draft convention and its resolve to settle the
outstanding issues.
57. He endorsed the President's informal proposals on the
question of participation in the convention (A/CONF.62/
L.86, annexes I, II and III). He particularly welcomed the
fact that the provisions relating to the participation of inter-
national organizations would be applicable not only to such
entities as the European Economic Community but also to
the integrationist associations of the developing world. He
was gratified to see that a number of his delegation's
proposals had been incorporated in annex IX, and especially
in article 2, article 6, paragraph 2, and article 8, which sought
to define the nature and scope of such organizations in rela-
tion to the convention and to prevent States which were not
parties to the convention from deriving undue advantage
from it through membership of such an organization, or po-
tentially provoking disputes and uncertainties.
58. His delegation readily accepted the draft resolutions in
document A/CONF.62/C.1/L.30 and particularly endorsed
the contribution of the Group of 77. The need to find gen-
erally applicable formulae embodying protection for existing
and potential developing land-based producing countries,
including his own, had been a long-term concern of his dele-
gation, and from that point of view the proposals in annex I of
the document represented a constructive compromise solu-
tion. The draft resolution on preparatory investment was also
generally acceptable, but it had to be remembered that it was
the outcome of considerable concessions on the part of
developing nations. Those concessions had been made only
for the benefit of entities of States which were parties to the
convention; there was a need to tighten up a number of
aspects which still gave cause for concern, including para-
graphs 1 (a), 1 (e) and 7 (.7), the treatment of pioneer inves-
tors dealt with in paragraph 8 (a) and the issue of "flags of
convenience" raised by paragraph 10 (b).
59. His delegation agreed with the conclusion of the Chair-
man of the Third Comm ttee in his report (A/CONF.62/
L.92) that the substantive negotiations on Parts XII, XIII and
XIV of the convention had been completed. No further changes



165th meeting-1 April 1982 75

should therefore be made, except for the amendments of
a purely drafting nature listed by the Chairman.
60. He emphasized the importance of the work achieved by
the Drafting Committee and endorsed the conclusions of its
Chairman in document A/CONF.62/L.89, subject only to an
addition to article 320, on authentic texts, to the effect that, if
doubts of interpretation arose, article 33 of the Vienna Con-
vention on the Law of Treaties,2 and especially paragraph 3 of
that article, should be applied.
61. In connection with Second Committee matters, he
endorsed the conclusion of the Chairman in document
A/CONF.62/L.87, which had received the general support of
the Conference, that there was a real consensus on the need to
preserve the fundamental elements of the parts of the conven-
tion dealt with by the Second Committee. His delegation also
agreed that, of the informal suggestions submitted to the
Committee, the United Kingdom's proposal concerning arti-
cle 60, paragraph 3, was the only one which met the require-
ments laid down in document A/CONF.62/62.3

62. He was gratified to note that the position of the Chair-
man of that Committee that it would not be desirable to re-
open fundamental issues had been fully ratified by the
Conference; there was indeed no possibility that reopening
the discussion would lead to any improvement in the text or
any broader consensus. Article 15, in particular, had been
regarded as sacrosanct from a very early stage and neither of
the two alternatives which had been spoken of, namely,
redrafting article 15 using the language of articles 74 and 83,
which was seen as a neutral formula, or permitting reserva-
tions, was acceptable to his delegation. The issue was not a
redrafting matter, for it had been on the basis of the under-
standing that article 15 had been resolved in substance that
consensus had been reached on the negotiated package
regarding delimitation. Reservations were also precluded; the
justification for them in the case of the Geneva Conventions
on the Law of the Sea of 1958 did not exist in the case of the
draft convention, the fundamental difference being that the
new convention was a single, all-embracing instrument and
was being considered on the basis of the principle, established
by the Gentleman's Agreement, that all the issues which it
governed were interlocking. Reservations were therefore
inadmissible, and to permit them would be to risk seeing the
draft convention founder under their weight. Article 309 as it
stood provided an adequate safeguard for all the sacrifices
and reciprocal concessions which had been made by delega-
tions.
63. The final shape of articles 74, 83 and 298 had been
accepted by his delegation with difficulty and as a last resort
he would refrain from comment so as not to damage the frag-
ile compromise achieved. However, his delegation continued
to believe that compulsory and binding third-party settlement
of disputes was the best guarantee for maintaining the rule of
international law, disposing of disputes within a reasonable
period and ensuring the equality of all States. In the event of
any attempt to reduce the scope of the process of conciliation,
in violation of the general compromise which had been
achieved, it would insist on that procedure.
64. In conclusion, he acknowledged the right of all delega-
tions to raise issues which were of particular concern to them,
but emphasized that each individual delegation was under an
equal obligation to respect the consensus which had finally
been achieved. The agreed texts on the outstanding issues
which had been subject to negotiations should be incor-
porated as soon as possible, so as to enable the draft conven-

2 See Official Records of the Third United Nations Conference on the
Law of the Treaties, Documents of the Conference, (United Nations pub-
lication, Sales No. E.70.V.5).

3 See The Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea, vol.
X (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.79.V.4).

tion, which his delegation fully supported, to be signed later
in the year.
65. Mr. VARVESI (Italy) observed that, since the drafting
of a convention which was acceptable to all States was the
primary objective of the Conference, his delegation welcomed
every serious attempt to reconcile conflicting views. The pro-
posals in document A/CONF.62/C.1/L.30 and in WG.21/
Informal Paper/21 and Add. 1 could be approached in that
spirit.
66. With regard to the draft resolution establishing the
Preparatory Commission (A/CONF.62/C.1/L.30, annex I), a
new paragraph had been proposed which would give the
Commission powers and functions with regard to preparatory
investments when such investments had yet to be assured of
proper protection. Furthermore, by charging the Commis-
sion's expenses to the regular budget of the United Nations,
States which were not members of the Commission would be
sharing the burden of its financing, a situation which seemed
less than equitable. Finally, his delegation believed that de-
veloping land-based producers would be better served by eco-
nomic assistance, which would replace the system of produc-
tion limits.
67. With regard to the draft resolution governing prepara-
tory investment (A/CONF.62/C.1/L.30, annex II), his dele-
gation was gratified that the Conference had acknowledged
the concerns of States whose companies had already made
such investments. As one such country, Italy wished to
emphasize that the Conference must afford adequate protec-
tion to preparatory investment by guaranteeing access to sea-
bed mining resources for entities which had already commit-
ted considerable technical and financial resources to their
exploration. The draft resolution did not afford proper protec-
tion to all the entities concerned, however: while approval of
plans of work was automatic, the issue of production authori-
zations was not. With regard to the identification of pioneer
investors, his delegation could accept the cut-off date of 1
January 1983 but considered the overall formula to be too
broad and likely to create uncertainty and even disputes.
Moreover, preparatory investment protection must be af-
forded only to the few genuine pioneer investors. If it was
extended to potential future investors, the convention would
be virtually impossible to apply. The provision of the draft
resolution must be considered within the context of Part XI,
about which his delegation had always expressed serious
reservations. The production limitation clause, the transfer of
technology, the financial clauses of contracts, the financial
aspects of the operation of the Enterprise, the composition,
powers and decision-making procedures of the Council and
the Review Conference were all provisions that required con-
siderable improvement if machinery was to be created which
would really operate in the common interest of both industri-
alized and developing countries.
68. In response to the successive proposals on that subject
made by the United States delegation, a group of 10 heads of
delegation had submitted suggestions which, although not
totally satisfactory to his delegation, would none the less pro-
vide a point of departure in the right direction. His delegation
hoped that the Conference would approach those fundamen-
tal issues in a constructive spirit so that a consensus might be
achieved.
69. With regard to the report of the Second Committee
(A/CONF.62/L.87), while the draft convention still required
amendment on certain points, his delegation could, in a spirit
of compromise, support the view of the Chairman of that
Committee that the debate on fundamental issues should not
be reopened for fear of disturbing the delicate balance that
had finally been achieved. His delegation did, however, sup-
port the amendment proposed by the United Kingdom to
article 60, paragraph 3, which would not disturb the overall
balance. Any other change to the articles prepared by the



76 Eleventh Session—Plenary Meetings

Second Committee could only diminish the prospects of con-
sensus.
70. The proposals discussed in the letter and report of the
Chairman of the Third Committee (A/CONF.62/L.88 and
L.92) would of course have to be considered by the Drafting
Committee before they could be included in a revised draft
convention. His delegation had some difficulty with the pro-
posal regarding article 196, which would, it felt, change the
meaning of that provision. The same was true of the proposals
regarding articles 212 and 216, paragraph 1 (6), which seemed
to imply that the expressions "ship" and "vessel" meant two
different things in the convention when there was no basis in
the Conference's work for such an assumption.
71. With regard to the question of participation (A/CONF.62 /
L.86), his delegation endorsed fully the views expressed by
the representative of Belgium on behalf of the members of the
European Economic Community. He none the less wished
to reiterate that EEC participation was important for general
political reasons and was in the interests of the convention
itself.
72. Mr. PRANDLER (Hungary) observed that the fact that
the Conference had succeeded in adhering to its programme
of work for the session was a notable achievement and bore
witness to delegations' political will to complete the work of
the Conference without further delay. He hoped that that pol-
itical will would continue to be in evidence in the coming
weeks so as to ensure the adoption of the draft convention at
the end of the session.'
73. The Conference still faced tremendous difficulties, owing
mainly to the intransigent and unrealistic attitude of the
United States Government in attempting to revise all the
major elements of the deep sea-bed mining regime of the
draft convention. The overwhelming majority of the
Conference could state with a clear conscience that no effort
had been spared to accommodate the United States views and
interests. In that connection he endorsed the comments made
by the Chairman of the First Committee in paragraph 57 of
his report (A/CONF.62/L.91) to the effect that no one had
sought to isolate the United States and its four industrialized
allies, but rather that their declared interests and needs had
been central to the negotiations and that none of them could
afford to turn their backs on provisions that they had worked
out and over which they had joined in a consensus with other
nations^
74. His delegation had listened closely to the statement by
the representative of the United States at the 164th meeting.
While it needed more time to consider the implications of that
statement, it had been disappointed at the inflexible attitude
of the United States delegation, which had reiterated the
tenets of the "Green Book" (WG.21/Informal Paper/18) and
had responded to an editorial in The New York Times with a
press release that stated, inter alia, that "an enormous effort
must be made by all countries in the next few weeks if the
United States is to be able to sign and support this conven-
tion". Although he dared to hope that the United States was
still willing to pursue the negotiations, he did not feel that it
was up to "all countries" but rather the United States to make
"an enormous effort" to meet the position of the overwhelm-
ing majority of the Conference in the next few weeks. His
delegation was conscious of its obligation to assist in efforts to
achieve a negotiated solution, but it was not prepared to con-
cede unilateral advantages for any one country. His delega-
tion earnestly hoped that the United States Administration
would finally conclude that its national interests were best
served by joining in a comprehensive and universal conven-
tion. The successful conclusion of the work of the Conference
would enhance the importance of bilateral and multilateral
negotiations in resolving global problems and would be con-
ducive to lessening international tension and to peaceful co-
operation among all States.

75. With regard to the report of the President of the Confer-
ence contained in document A/CONF.62/L.86, his delega-
tion endorsed the idea of a package on the questions of
participation by national liberation movements and intergov-
ernmental organizations and the transitional arrangements
regarding dependent 'lerritories, and was prepared to support
the proposed provisions. It would have preferred provisions
which gave better legal standing to national liberation move-
ments, and it agreed with the representative of India that a
specific reference should be made to the eligibility of the
Council for Namibia with regard to participation in the con-
vention. His delegation still maintained, however, that all
members of an international organization must have become
parties to the convention before that organization could
accede to it. In that connection, it endorsed fully the principle
stated in article 4, paragraph 5, of annex I of the report.
76. With regard to the report in document A/CONF.62/
C. 1 /L.30, his delegation could in general accept the draft reso-
lution establishing the Preparatory Commission, which greatly
enhanced the prospects of achieving consensus. It welcomed
the new provision on decision-making in paragraph 4 of the
draft resolution, on the understanding that the procedure for
adopting decisions on questions of substance would be deter-
mined by the Commission on the basis of consensus, while
the two-thirds majority formula would be used only in excep-
tional cases.
77. Since it was aware of the importance which the developed
industrialized countries attached to the protection of prepara-
tory investment, his delegation accepted the proposals con-
tained in the draft resolution in annex II of the report. It
believed, however, that the provisions governing the financing
of the Enterprise should be improved, in particular to ensure
that the financial burden was borne by those who were conduct-
ing pioneer activities.
78. His delegation agreed fully with the conclusion reached in
paragraph 13 of the report of the Second Committee in docu-
ment A/CONF.62/L.87. That was why it had opposed firmly
any change in the text of the draft convention which would upset
the delicate balance and package-deal solutions reached by the
Conference. It was particularly opposed to current attempts
further to erode freedom of navigation and the rights of land-
locked and geographically disadvantaged States. The land-
locked States had been compelled, for the sake of compromise,
to accept a large number of provisions affecting their rights in
the exclusive economic zone and continental shelf which were
detrimental to their interests. His delegation was strongly
opposed to any further weakening of Part X of the convention.
79. With regard to the report of the Third Committee, his dele-
gation agreed that the drafting proposals contained in document
A/CONF.62/L.88 should be dealt with by the Drafting Com-
mittee and endorsed the recommendations and conclusions of
the Chairman of the Third Committee as contained in document
A/CQNF.62_/L,?Z_
80. Mr. SHASH (Egypt) said that the report of the President
on the question of participation (A/CONF.62/L.86) reflected a
commendable effort to bring positions closer together. The
informal proposals on the participation of national liberation
movements were not satisfactory. His delegation still main-
tained the view that such movements should be allowed to be
full parties to the convention, which governed the common heri-
tage of mankind and affirmed the rights and interests of peoples.
The full participation of national liberation movements in the
convention was required by the various provisions of the draft
convention, including articles 136, 140 and 162. That view was
strengthened by the legal status which those movements had
acquired with the contemporary development of the provisions
of international law and within the framework of the United
Nations.. _
81. The so-called "transitional provision" contained in annex
III to document A/CONF.62/L.86 should be inserted in the text



165th meeting-1 April 1982 77

of the convention itself; nothing justified its issue in the form of a
resolution of the Conference.
82. He hoped that, with further exchanges of views on the basis
of document A/CONF.62/L.86, agreement could be reached
on amendments to the President's proposals on the question of
the participation of both national liberation movements and
international organizations.
83. With regard to document A/CONF.62/C.1/L.30, which
contained two draft resolutions on the Preparatory Commission
and preparatory investment, his delegation agreed with the
comments made by the Group of 77 (158th meeting). The draft
resolution on the Preparatory Commission constituted the best
basis for efforts to achieve a consensus. His delegation agreed
that the Commission should consist of representatives of States
which had signed the convention or acceded to it and that its
expenses should be met from the regular budget of the United
Nations.
84. Some of the provisions of the draft resolution on prepara-
tory investment required revision, and there should be further
exchanges of views in order that balance and co-ordination
might be achieved between that regime and the principles and
provisions of Part XI of the convention and the annexes.
85. With regard to the report contained in document
A/CONF.62/L.87, his delegation's attention had been caught
by the statement regarding the proposal of a number of delega-
tions, including his own, concerning innocent passage of war-
ships through the territorial sea. That was a matter of great
importance to his delegation and to many other delegations at
the Conference. Perhaps the statements made by a large number
of delegations in plenary meetings during the past three days
indicated the degree of concern felt by many States, including
Egypt, because of the existing text of article 21 of the draft con-
vention.
86. Although the provisions of the draft convention recog-
nized the rights of coastal States to enact legislation governing
innocent passage of warships through their territorial sea in
order to protect their security, his delegation had been con-
cerned from the start to introduce an amendment to article 21, in
order to remove any ambiguity which might subsequently give
rise to a difference of interpretation. His delegation had joined
with a number of other delegations in submitting an informal
proposal in document C.2/Informal Meeting/58/Rev.l, for the
addition of a new paragraph to improve the text of article 21 by
making it clear that coastal States had the right to adopt laws and
regulations on passage through the territorial sea and concern-
ing, inter alia, passage of warships, including the right to require
prior authorization or notification for passage through the terri-
torial sea. The sponsors of the proposal had contacted other
delegations, but their proposal had not been sufficiently dis-
cussed and had not been accorded the opportunity given to
other proposals, despite the vital importance of the subject with
which it dealt. His delegation could not understand the positions
of some delegations regarding that proposal. Some had not
accorded the proposal due importance, while others had not
presented a satisfactory argument against it. Strangest of all,
many States which had opposed the proposal at open meetings
were States whose legislation contained detailed provisions
governing passage of warships through their territorial sea and
required that ships should obtain prior authorization.
87. State practice showed that a norm existed in interna-
tional law which required prior authorization by or notifi-
cation to the coastal State for passage of foreign warships
through its territorial sea. That norm was justified by the na-
ture of a warship, which publicists regarded as a floating part of
the foreign State, embodying its sovereignty and enjoying
immunity. That was affirmed by article 32 of the draft conven-
tion and other provisions of its text.
88. In addition to the consideration of the sovereignty and
national independence of coastal States, security considera-

tions, which were of great importance to any State, made it
incumbent on the coastal State to regulate the passage of such
warships through its territorial sea, in order to protect its peo-
ple against possible dangers from the passage of such vessels
and the sophisticated modern weapons which they might
carry. Since many major Powers had introduced the use of
nuclear energy for the operation of their warships or had
armed them with nuclear weapons, it was possible to under-
stand the concern felt by some States, which could be allayed
only by an affirmation of the right of a coastal State to require
prior authorization or notification for the passage of such
ships through its territorial sea.

89. He wondered whether the text of article 23 of the draft
convention, concerning innocent passage of foreign nuclear-
powered ships and ships carrying nuclear or other inherently
dangerous or noxious substances did not require amendment
also, so as to lay down clearly the right of the coastal State to
enact appropriate legislation to cope with the contingency of
the passage of such ships and requiring, inter alia, prior
authorization or notification. His concern, in making that pro-
posal, was to ensure that a vital issue was taken into account,
without unnecessary impediment of the movement of oil
tankers and other vessels. The mere mention in article 23 of
"international agreements" was not sufficient, particularly
since some States refused to subject thejr warships to such
agreements.

90. The proposals contained in documents A/CONF.62/
L.88 and L.89, as currently worded, were being studied by
Egypt, which would participate in their discussion with other
delegations.

91. He paid a tribute to the Chairman and members of the
Drafting Committee for their efforts to complete their ardu-
ous task.
92. With regard to article 309, on reservations and excep-
tions, and the note indicating that the article had been
included on the assumption that the convention would be
adopted by consensus and that that article should be regarded
as a provisional clause pending the conclusion of discussions
on outstanding issues, he felt that, in the event of the adoption
of the draft convention without a consensus, article 309,
should be amended to affirm the right of States to express
reservations to the convention within the limits permitted by
the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties of 1969,2 since
the Vienna convention did not expressly conflict with the pro-
visions of the draft convention.

93. His delegation supported the proposal by the Group of
77, as expressed by the Chairman of the Group, for an addi-
tion to article 171 to further the interests of that Group.

94. He appealed to all delegations to continue their efforts in
the same spirit which had prevailed from the start of the
Conference and with the same sincere desire to arrive at a
convention. The Conference bore a heavy historic responsibil-
ity. In the contemporary world, international relations were
governed by the requirements of coexistence, interdepen-
dence and close interrelationships among States, whatever
their interests, and the interest of mankind as a whole would,
unquestionably, lead to the realization of the interests of each
State and people.

95. Mr. DJALAL (Indonesia) said that his delegation con-
tinued to attach great importance to the conclusion of a
comprehensive convention on the law of the sea by the end of
the current session. The current text of the draft convention
was the result of long years of negotiation and represented
compromises that balanced all the conflicting interests of
different States. As such it offered the best guarantee for the
stability and orderly development of the world's oceans and
there was no viable alternative for promoting law and order in
ocean affairs.



78 Eleventh Session—Plenary Meetings

96. The Drafting Committee faced an enormous task in
finalizing its work before the end of the session and his dele-
gation hoped that the Conference would conclude its negotia-
tions well ahead of time so that the Drafting Committee was
able to complete its work.
97. With regard to the report of the Third Committee, his
delegation believed that the drafting changes proposed in
document A/CONF.62/L.88 would not create problems for
the Conference.
98. His delegation was grateful to the Chairman of the
Second Committee for his attempt to achieve compromise
solutions on various articles. He agreed that a general con-
sensus seemed to have been achieved on the United Kingdom
proposal regarding article 60, paragraph 3, and that the provi-
sion should be incorporated into the convention.
99. With regard to the report on participation contained in
document A/CONF.62/L.86, his delegation felt that sig-
nificant progress had been made on the issue and was partic-
ularly happy to note that an acceptable formulation seemed to
1 uve been found with regard to the issue of participation by
self-governing associated States.
100. With regard to document A/CONF.62/C.1/L.30, sub-
stantial progress had been achieved with regard to the estab-
lishment of the Preparatory Commission. His delegation
considered the draft resolution on that subject to be a
compromise proposal and therefore broadly acceptable. The
issue of preparatory investment protection had created con-
siderable difficulties for the Conference. When it had first
been raised, in 1980, his delegation had feared that it was an
attempt to seek legal recognition of unilateral national legisla-
tion by the Conference and had therefore opposed it rather
strongly. The Group of 77 had gone a long way since then
towards accommodating the industrialized countries in order
to facilitate their participation in the convention. By submit-
ting its own proposal (TPIC/3) on preparatory investment
protection, the Group had in fact admitted the need for such
protection—in itself a tremendous concession to the industrial-
ized countries—and its proposal attempted to regulate
preparatory investment protection within the context of a
convention to which all States would hopefully become par-
ties.
101. His delegation would be prepared to discuss certain
priorities for pioneer investors or operators, in obtaining
approval of contracts for sea-bed mining. It would have great
difficulties, however, if the scope of preparatory investment
protection went beyond priority in obtaining contracts and
would certainly not like to see it result in automatic approval
of contracts, or in a licence to produce without regard to pro-
duction policies or limitations or to operate outside the con-
text of the convention.
102. The proposal in annex II to document A/CONF.62/
C.1/L.30 represented some progress towards reconciling
the preparatory investment protection proposals of the four
industrialized countries and those of the Group of 77. His del-
egation endorsed the comments made earlier by the Chair-
man and other members of the Group of 77, but wished to
emphasize that, in paragraph 6, the granting of an "exclusive
right" to pioneer investors to carry out activities in the pioneer
areas allocated to them seemed to be tantamount to legalizing
unilateral legislation and the future "reciprocal State arrange-
ment" or so-called "mini-treaty". He suggested that the Presi-
dent should reconsider the nature of that paragraph.
103. The principle of "automaticity" provided for in para-
graph 8 would also need to be reconsidered. While his delega-
tion was prepared to consider the granting of certain priorities
to pioneer investors in order to bring them within the scope of
the convention, that priority should not result in an exclusive
right to the pioneer area, followed by automatic approval of a
contract, thereby legally if not practically pre-empting other
potential applicants.

104. Paragraph 14 seemed to be intended to induce States to
ratify the convention so that it might enter into force within
five years of its adoption. If it did not enter into force within
that period, all rights stipulated in the resolution would,
according to the proposal, terminate. It was his understanding
that in such a situation the 1970 moratorium resolution should
continue to apply, at least in so far as it related to the produc-
tion stage.
105. Paragraph 1 (e) suggested that the pioneer area should
not exceed 150,000 squs.re kilometres. That figure seemed to
be rather large and to be taken from the proposal of the
industrialized countries. More importantly, his delegation
wished to know the relationship between the pioneer area,
which was intended for exploration purposes, and the area
intended for exploitation. In their preparatory investment
protection proposal, the industrialized countries had admitted
that the area for exploitation would be smaller than the
pioneer area, although they left it to certifying States to deter-
mine the site of the exploitation area. His delegation hoped
that the President would, set a clear maximum limit on the size
of the area for exploitation by a pioneer investor, otherwise
the whole pioneer area might simply become an area of
exploitation. In the past an exploitation area of 40,000 to
60,000 square kilometres per mining site had been mentioned.
106. Mr. TOULOUPAS (Greece) said that, as far as matters
relating to the Area were concerned, any proposal to improve
the draft convention should take into account the principle
that all rights to sea-bed resources were vested in mankind as
a whole. Only through a generally agreed convention could
all nations hope to enjoy peace and stability on the world's
oceans. His delegation strongly supported the efforts to find
compromise solutions for Part XI of the draft convention and
for the protection of preparatory investments.
107. His delegation shared the views expressed by the
representative of Belgium on the question of participation.

108. As to issues dealt with by the First Committee, his dele-
gation was particularly interested in the question of the
representation of medium-sized industrial nations in the
Council of Authority. It was one of the sponsors of the pro-
posal that there should be two more seats on the Council,
one more for the developing countries and one more for
the category of members referred to in article 161, para-
graph 1 (e).
109. The part of the draft convention dealt with by the
Second Committee was; the result of long and painful negotia-
tions held in a spirit of compromise. The delicate balance
achieved should in no way be upset. His delegation therefore
agreed that none of the issues relating to Second Committee
items should be reopened for consideration, with the excep-
tion of amendments which had obtained widespread support
and were recognized as improvements to the text. While his
delegation was not really happy with quite a number of provi-
sions of the draft convention, it was prepared not to raise
questions that might upset the balance of the package, if other
delegations adopted a similar position.

110. His delegation disagreed with the position taken by the
representative of Turkey, who had tried to raise questions
concerning articles generally considered to be fundamental to
the compromise achieved. At the tenth session, all interested
parties had accepted the compromise solution of the current
text concerning, inter alia, the delimitation of maritime zones.
The articles on the regime of islands and on enclosed or
semi-enclosed seas were of crucial importance and should not
be touched. Provisions of such importance should not be
deprived of their effectiveness either through amendments or
through the formulation of reservations. In that area, his dele-
gation was opposed to reservations.
111. The representative of Turkey had also referred to the
possibility of the application of the convention, in some



165th meeting-1 April 1982

regions, in an arbitrarily selective and discriminatory manner,
and had asserted that Turkey was not bound by international
customary or conventional rules. The Greek delegation
rejected those views as unacceptable, unfounded and contrary
to international law.
112. Mr. AL-ATASSI (Syrian Arab Republic) said that the
Conference was facing some difficulties, which it must make
every effort to overcome. His delegation had participated
positively both in the Group of 77 and in informal contacts
with a considerable number of delegations, because of the
need to arrive at a satisfactory draft convention, a purpose
which he felt some delegations, particularly that of the United
States, had been trying to obstruct.
113. His delegation's position with regard to most of the out-
standing issues was that of the Group of 77, particularly in so
far as the Preparatory Commission and international invest-
ment were concerned.
114. Matters which his delegation regarded as of vital
importance included article 21. As a signatory of document
C.2/Informal Meeting/58, his country regarded the passage
of warships through the territorial sea of States as an issue
relating to sovereignty and territorial security and one which
transcended the concepts of economic or political transac-
tions. He stressed the need for adoption of the principle of
authorization or notification for the passage of warships. That
was of a special concern to small States.
115. With regard to participation in the convention, his
delegation believed that national liberation movements
should participate fully in the future convention on the law of
the sea. The sound position required that the Conference
should recognize liberation movements as full parties. There
were legal bases for that, including the concept of the com-
mon heritage of mankind and the concept of membership of
such movements in the United Nations and in many of its
committees.
116. What was contained in the report of the President on
the question of participation (A/CONF.62/L.86) was, in his
delegation's view, insufficient. While his delegation did not
rej'ect compromise solutions, they should not be reached at
the expense of cutting off liberation movements from full par-
ticipation. He was still convinced that the Conference could
arrive at a better formula regarding full participation, out of
concern for the interests of the peoples represented by those
movements.
117. Mr. WALKER (Barbados) said that the updating of
the conventional laws of the sea was a challenge in itself. Yet
the envisaged convention sought not only to update the con-
ventional laws, but also to establish new rules and regulations
relating to deep sea-bed mining. His delegation believed that
if the convention was to be concluded by consensus, there was
still a need for further compromise on the unresolved issues.
118. It was generally acknowledged that those issues related
mainly to the question of deep sea-bed mining. For the most
part, the opposing interests were those of the Group of 77 and
those of the industrialized countries. It was the Group of 77
that, in the spirit of compromise, had made greater conces-
sions. It could hardly concede more without engaging in a
self-defeating exercise. His delegation therefore endorsed the
views of the Chairman of the Group of 77 (158th meeting)
concerning the draft resolution establishing the Preparatory
Commission (A/CONF.62/C.1/L.30, annex I) and the draft
resolution governing preparatory investments (ibid., annex
II). Barbados endorsed paragraph 13 of the first draft resolu-
tion and welcomed the inclusion of paragraph 11. It hoped
that those provisions would be incorporated in the final docu-
ment. As to the second draft resolution, his delegation sup-
ported the proposal in paragraph 8, which was necessary to
ensure that there was no derogation from article 136 of the
draft convention.

119. His delegation agreed with the Chairman of the Second
Committee that the United Kingdom's proposal relating to an
amendment to article 60, paragraph 3, met the conditions for
consensus. It was satisfied that the implementation of the pro-
posal would ensure the safety of navigation and the protection
of the marine environment and would impose no constraints
on fishing.
120. Barbados regarded the passage of warships through its
territorial waters, without authorization or notification as a
threat to its sovereignty. The proposal contained in document
C.2/Informal Meeting/58/Rev. 1 should be the subject of fur-
ther negotiations with a view to a consensus.
121. Although the current formulation of the provisions
relating to the delimitation of the exclusive economic zone
and the continental shelf did not fully meet the requirements
of his delegation, it was willing to accept articles 74 and 83, in
keeping with the spirit of compromise which it considered
essential for the successful conclusion of the convention.
Those articles should be incorporated in the final document.
122. Mr. KITTIKHOUN (Lao People's Democratic Repub-
lic) said that although his delegation felt that some of its arti-
cles could have been improved, the current text of the draft
convention reflected a balanced compromise worked out after
difficult negotiations, and he therefore appealed to those who
wished to amend it to accept it as it stood so as not to jeopard-
ize that balance.
123. Turning to the question of participation, discussed in
document A/CONF.62/L.86, he said that the national libera-
tion movements recognized by the United Nations should be
allowed to be full parties to the convention with the attendant
right to benefit from the International Sea-Bed Authority so
that they could protect the legitimate interests of the peoples
they represented. The President's proposals in that document
could provide a useful framework for future negotiations to
provide a better formula for meeting their needs.
124. The statement made by the United States representa-
tive at the previous meeting offered nothing new and nothing
that would facilitate the successful conclusion of the work of
the Conference. The majority of delegations had expressed
their contempt for the position reflected in document
WG/21/Informal Paper/18, a position which had also been
flatly rejected by the Group of 77. He therefore urgently
appealed to the United States delegation to stop creating ob-
stacles to the work of the current session by proposing
changes prejudicial to Part XI of the convention.
125. Mr. KOROMA (Sierra Leone) said that the exploita-
tion of the resources of the sea-bed should contribute to the
economic development of all countries, particularly the
developing ones, and that judged by that yardstick, many pro-
visions of Part XI of the draft convention were inadequate.
His delegation had hoped that further negotiations would
align the convention more closely with the interests of the
developing countries. Instead, the opposite had happened, so
that it no longer satisfied even their minimum interests. The
financial cost of the convention to his country was too high in
terms of the benefits it conferred. Furthermore, the financial
benefits to accrue to the Authority were too minimal to
benefit the developing countries. His delegation also found
unacceptable the veto provisions in article 161 and the
provisions on the Review Conference as currently formulated.
126. The draft resolution on the establishment of the
Preparatory Commission in annex I to document A/CONF.62/
C.1/L.30, and the draft resolution governing preparatory
investment in pioneer activities in annex II were constructive.
With regard to the latter draft, his delegation recognized
that consideration must be given to the results of research on
sea-bed technology and maintained that such investments
must be brought within the framework of the convention
in order to avoid establishing a dual regime for the exploi-



80 Eleventh Session—Plenary Meetings

tation of the resources of the sea-bed which would be preju-
dicial to the common heritage principle. His delegation was
prepared to support the position that pioneer investors who
had operated in accordance with the rules and regulations
of the Preparatory Commission should be given priority when
they applied for production authorization, but it could
not agree that approval by the Authority should be man-
datory. His delegation had not been provided with evidence
or objective criteria to support the recommendation con-
cerning the size of the area contained in the report, and therefore
maintained that the Preparatory Commission should be left to
determine its size.
127. He noted that the provision relating to preparatory
investment had been restricted to polymetallic nodules. His
delegation suggested that the draft resolution should govern
resources as defined in article 133 of the draft convention and
that should any resource other than polymetallic resources be
discovered, the Preparatory Commission should be informed
accordingly. Explanations had been offered regarding the
intention of paragraph 10 (b) of the draft resolution, but that
paragraph as it stood did not prevent the utilization of flags of
convenience, nor was it realistic to expect that it would solve
the problem that might arise.
128. Turning to the recommendations on participation in
document A/CONF.62/L.86, he said that they did not meet
his delegation's minimum requirements as far as national
liberation movements were concerned. Those movements
must sign the final act and the draft convention and become
full parties to the convention—not for ideological reasons but
so that they could protect the interests and natural resources
of the peoples they represented. The recommendation to
grant them observer status was a step in the right direction but
it did not go far enough.
129. Turning to Second Committee matters, he noted that
efforts had been made to renegotiate article 21 on the inno-
cent passage of warships through the territorial sea of coastal
States. Under international law, it was the duty of all States to
safeguard their security and their national and territorial
integrity and for that reason prior notification must be given
to a coastal State before a foreign vessel could pass through its
territorial sea_.
130. His delegation supported the United Kingdom's propo-
sal regarding article 60, paragraph 3, on installations or struc-
tures. It was both the right of States and the duty of those
responsible for installing such installations or structures to
remove them when they were abandoned or disused so as to
ensure safety of navigation and facilitate fishing.
131. Mr. ENGO (United Republic of Cameroon) said that
given the extreme complexity of the problems facing the
Conference and the incredible diversity of the needs and
national interests confronting it, it was not surprising that a
few points remained on which some delegations wished to
broaden the consensus. His delegation had no objection to
that provided the informal consultations arranged for that
purpose did not upset the delicate balance reflected in the
draft convention. The different parts of the draft convention
were closely interlinked. Some limited agreements relating to
specific questions in each section of it had been reached
through compromise and it was essential to abide by the spirit
of those agreements when the final decisions were made. His
delegation therefore believed that if for any reason the draft
convention could not be adopted by acclamation, the Confer-
ence should first vote on the formal amendments and then
vote on the draft convention as a whole rather than article by
article.
132. Turning to certain important subjects dealt with in vari-
ous parts of the convention, he said that his delegation took
note of the difficult question of the delimitation of the con-
tinental shelf between States with opposite or adjacent coasts
(art. 83) whose national frontiers had been established by

foreign colonial Powers. His own country was a geographi-
cally disadvantaged one whose coastline was very compli-
cated, and its neighbours were other geographically disadvan-
taged or land-locked developing countries. His Government
had always given priority to African solidarity and for that
reason his delegation wished to stress the importance of nego-
tiations and agreements between States with opposite or adja-
cent coasts, as set forth in article 83. That would be perfectly
consistent with General Assembly resolution 2625 (XXV).
133. His delegation supported the rights conferred in article
69 on land-locked States. It also supported the right conferred
in article 70 on States with special geographical characteris-
tics, such as his own, so that they would be able to participate,
on an equitable basis, in the exploitation of an appropriate
part of the surplus of the living resources of the exclusive
economic zones of coastal States of the same subregion or
region. His delegation hoped that when the terms and modali-
ties of such participation were established, the spirit of impar-
tiality underlying the draft convention as a whole would be
taken into consideration, and it was in that light his delegation
had accepted those articles.
134. The terms of article 121 on the regime of islands had
presented some difficulties. Although his delegation had
accepted the current definitions in a spirit of compromise, it
considered that the delimitation of the continental shelf of an
island should be based on the same criteria as those provided
in article 83.
135. As for Part XI, his delegation welcomed the strengthen-
ing of the concept of the common heritage of mankind and of
the indivisibility of the international Area and its resources. It
was convinced that only an effective international regime and
efficient international machinery could ensure that the bene-
fits to be derived from the Area would ultimately revert to all
mankind.
136. Turning to article 21 and the problem of innocent pas-
sage, he noted that security was a fundamental right of every
State and that the long list of sponsors of the informal propo-
sal in document C.2/Informal Meeting/58/Rev.l showed that
the problem had not aeen dealt with adequately. Part II, sec-
tion 3, subsection C, of the draft convention indicated clearly
that in accordance with the spirit of the convention, when a
warship passed through the territorial sea it must comply with
the laws and regulations of the coastal State. In the interests
of consistency, article 21 should reflect the same principle.
The coastal State could not ensure the application of subsec-
tion C unless it was notified. Objectivity and common sense
required acceptance of the informal proposal to which he had
referred, which was supported by a majority which could not
be denied.
137. With regard to the question of participation in the con-
vention by national liberation movements, he said his delega-
tion shared the preoccupations of the Group of 77 on the sub-
ject, but believed that the proposals submitted by the Pres-
ident of the Conference in document A/CONF.62/L.86 pro-
vided a workable framework for reaching consensus. Those
movements represented the genuine interests and aspira-
tions of their peoples and their full participation in the con-
vention was fully in accord with the principle of common her-
itage enshrined in that document.
138. His delegation welcomed the President's compromise
proposals concerning Ihe participation of international organ-
izations in the convention, because they reflected the view of
a majority of delegations that a member State of an interna-
tional organization which was not a party to the convention
could not derive benefits from it merely through membership
in an international organization that had acceded to it.
139. With regard to the draft resolution on preparatory
investment in annex II to document A/CONF.62/C.1/L.30,
he said that his delegation would insist that any of the



166th meeting-1 April 1982 81

suggested improvements did not detract from the basic objec-
tives. Some accommodation must be found to protect invest-
ments currently being made by a limited number of com-
panies and State enterprises. There should be no appearance
of inviting an increase in the list of those already known
because the result would be to make nonsense of the regula-
tory and institutional provisions in Part XI. There should also
be no direct or indirect endorsement of selfish arrangements
reported to be contemplated by certain industrial States to
carry out activities in the Area outside the convention. There
must be a direct link between interim protection and the pro-
visions of the draft convention. Within such parameters there
was still scope for encouraging genuine pioneer investors to
launch activities consistent with the concept of the common
heritage of mankind. His delegation welcomed the textual
realization of the imperatives for a viable Enterprise in the
parallel system.

140. His delegation also welcomed the statements by the five
industrialized States regarding the negotiability of the propo-
sals of the Group of 77 but did not understand the insistence
by some of them that those proposals could not be considered
on their own merit in a negotiating process. Proposals to con-
tinue an unproductive dialogue on non-negotiable subjects
were frustrating.

141. Lastly, he reminded all interest groups, especially the
industrialized countries, that the purpose of the Conference
was not to protect the benefits of a few to the detriment of the
many in the management of resources constituting the com-
mon heritage of mankind.

The meeting rose at 6.40p.m.


	Main Menu
	List of Documents
	How to use List of Documents

	Master File
	How to use Master File

	Other Materials
	I. Preface
	II. Document Symbols
	III. Full-text Search
	IV. Tables
	A. GA Resolutions
	B. Conference Sessions
	C. Documents by Session
	D. Contents by Volume
	E. Negotiating Texts
	F. Chronology - LOS



	Main: 


